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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
PENSACOLA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
. SEALED
V. INDICTMENT

ROBERT PATRICK JENSEN | KT ea 1OF[RY

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:
COUNT ONE
Between on or about December 3, 2014, andlon or about July 7, 2016, in the
Northern District of FI orida, the defendant, |
ROBERT PATRICK JENSEN,
did knowingly and intentionally acquire and obtain possession of a controlled
substance, namely tramadol and dextroamphetamine, by ﬁisxepresentation, fraud,
fél‘gery, deception, and subterfuge. |
In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 843(a)(3) and (d)(1).
COUNT TWO
Between on or about December 3, 2014, and on or about July 7, 2016, in the

Northern District of Florida, the defendant,
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ROBERT PATRICK JENSEN,
did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of
identification of another perSon,‘to wit, Drug Enforcement Administration
Registration Numbers belonging to “D.L.,” with the intent to commit, to aid and
abet, and in connection with, -an unlawful activity that constitutes a violation of
federal law, and such transfer, possession, and use was in and affecting inferstate
commerce, and such offense was committed to facilitate a drug trafficking crime.
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028(a)(7) and
1028(b)(3)(A).
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE FORFEITURE
The allegations contained in Count One of this Indictment are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleginé forfeiture,
pursuant to the provisions of Title 21, Sectioﬁ 853,
From his engagement in the violation alleged in Count One of this
Indictment, the defendant,
ROBERT PATRICK JENSEN,
shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section
853, any and all of the defendant’s right, title, and interest in: |
A.  Property constituting and derived from any proceeds the defendant

obtained, difectly or indirectly, as the result of such violation.
' 2
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B.  Propetty used and intended to be used in any manner or part to
commit and to facilitate the commission of éuch violation.
If any of the property described above. as being subject to forfeiture, as a
tresult of any act or omission of the defendant:
i. cannot be located upon tﬁe exercise of due diligence;
ii.  has been transferred, sold to, or deposited with a third party;
iii.  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of this Court;
iv.  has been substantially diminished in value; or
v.  has been commingled with other property that cannot be
subdivided without difficulty,
it is the intént of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States dee,
Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the
value of thé forfeitable property. |
IDENTITY FRAUD FORFEITURE
The allegations contained in Count Two of this Indictment ave hereby
realleged and incorporated by refetence for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the

United States pursuant to the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

982(a)(2)(B) and 1028(b)(5).
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Upon conviction of the violation alleged in Count Two of this Indictment,
and pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(2)(B) and
1028(b)(5), the defendant, |

ROBERT PATRICK JENSEN,
shall forfeit to the United States any property, real or personal, éonstituting, and
derived from proceeds obtained, directly and indirectly, as a result of the offense;
and any property, real and pei‘sonal, used or intended to be used to facilitate the
commission of the offense,

If any of the property subject to forfeiture pursﬁant to Count Two of this
Indictment, as a resultof any act or omission of the defendant:

i. cannot be located upon the exer.cise of due diligence;
ii.  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person;
iii.  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of this Court; |
iv.  has been substantially diminished in value; or
v.  hasbeen commingled with o“uh'er property that cannot be divided
without difficulty,
the United States shall be entitled to _forfeiture of substitute proper‘& up to the

value of the property subject to forfeiture under the provisions of Title 21, United
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States Code, Section 853(p), which is incorporated by reference in Title 18, United

States Code, Sections 982(b)(1) and 1028(g).
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